IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SIDJ. WHITE
MAR 21 19961

LINN-WELL DEVELOPMENT CORP., : et al.,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Petitioners,

Case No. 87,385

٧.

PRESTON & FARLEY, INC., et al.,

District Court of Appeal, 2nd District - No. 94-03170 94-03168

Respondents.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

"Richard Benjamin Wilkes
'Florida Bar No. 265163
Anthony T. Leon
Florida Bar No. 974552
GARDNER, WILKES, SHAHEEN &
CANDELORA
501 E. Kennedy Boulevard
Suite 1250
Post Office Box 1810
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 221-8000
(813) 229-1597 (FAX)
Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
11. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
A. THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE IS INAPPLICABLE TO INTENTIONAL TORT CLAIMS SUCH AS FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT OF A CONTRACT
B. SOUTHGATE'S CLAIMS AGAINST PRESTON & FARLEY FOR BREACH OF THE INDEPENDENT FIDUCIARY DUTY OF HONESTY, CANDOR, GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING ARE NOT BARRED BY THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE 15
C. THERE ARE NO OTHER BASES FOR SUSTAINING THE GRANTING OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF PRESTON & FARLEY
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>
Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 620 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1993)
Ellis v. Flink, 301 So. 2d 493 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974)
<u>Fraioli v. Bobby Byrd Real Estate, Inc.</u> , 630 So. 2d 1131 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)
Givan v. Aldemeyer/Stegman/Kaiser, Inc., 788 S.W. 2d 503 (Ky. App. 1990) .,
<u>Holl v. Talcott</u> , 191 so. 2d 40 (Fla. 1966 4
HTP. Ltd., v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., 661 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995, rev. granted, 1996 Fla. LEXIS 336 (Fla. Feb. 19, 1996)
<pre>Hughey v. Rainwater Partners, 661 S.W. 2d 690 (Tenn, App. 1983) 17, 18</pre>
<u>Jarmco, Inc. v. Polysard, Inc.</u> , 21 Fla. L. Weekly D478, 1996 WL 71251 (Fla. 4th DCA, February 21, 1996)
<u>Johnson v. Davis</u> , 480 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 1985) 13, 18
<u>Kluger v. White</u> , 281 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973)
<u>Linn-Well Development Corp. v. Preston & Farley, Inc.</u> , 666 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) 2, 9, 11
Lou Bachrodt Chevrolet, Inc. v. Savage, 570 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), rev. denied, 581 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 1991), . , ,
Nizzo v. Amoco Oil Co., 333 So. 2d 491 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976)
Pulte Home Corp. v. Osmose Wood Preserving, Inc., 60 F.3d 734 (11th Cir, 1995)

Sandarac Ass'n, Inc. v. W.R. Frizzell Architects. Inc.,
609 So. 2d 1349 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), <u>rev. denied</u> , 626 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1993) 12, 20
Snyder v. Cheezem Development Corp., 373 So. 2d 719 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979)
TGI Development, Inc. v. CV Reit, Inc., 665 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996)
Torbron v. Campen, 579 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), rev. denied, 589 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1991) 13, 14, 17, 18
<u>United Homes Inc. v. Moss</u> , 154 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 2d DCA 1963)
Wallis v. South Florida Savings Bank, 574 So. 2d 1108 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)
Warren v. Monahan Beaches Jewelry Center, Inc., 548 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989)
Williams Electric Co., Inc. v. Honeywell, Inc., 772 F.Supp. 1225 (N.D. Fla. 1991) 13, 14
Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) 2, 9, 11, 12, 13
Zichlin v. Dill, 25 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1946) 14, 16, 17
Other Authorities
Fl. Const. art. I, § 21
<u>Op</u> . <u>Att'y Gen</u> . <u>Fla</u> . 96-20 (March 7, 1996) 12, 14, 16, 18, 19
Section 455, Florida Statutes (1993) 15, 16, 18, 19
Section 455.227 (1)(a). Florida Statutes (1993) 16
Section 475, Florida Statutes (1993) 15, 16, 18, 19

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioners, Linn-Well Development Corp., as general partner of Southgate Eureka Associates Limited Partnership, Stuart Lichter and Barry Lang were the plaintiffs/appellants below and will be referred to collectively in this brief as "Southgate." The appellee, Preston & Farley, Inc., will be referred to as "Preston & Parley."

References to the transcript of the proceedings are designated (T. ____). References to portions of the record other than the transcript are designated (R. ____). Various materials referenced in this brief are reproduced in the Appendix and cited as (A. [tab no.]).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from an affirmance with a certified question by the Second District Court of Appeal of, inter alia, a final order entering summary judgment on Southgate's claims against Preston & Farley in Appeal No. 94-03170 (A. 2, A. 3). There were other issues raised on appeal that do not relate to the certified question. These other matters were fully briefed in the Second District Court of Appeal and the statement of the case and facts as relates to these other issues is contained in those briefs, which are included in the appendix as A. 4, A. 5 and A. 6.

Southgate sued Preston & Parley for claims of fraud in the inducement, misrepresentation, and breach of the duty of honesty, candor, good faith, and fair dealing (R. 1-14; A. 1-1-14). On July 1, 1994, Preston & Farley filed an amended motion to dismiss and motion for summary judgment (R. 137) asserting the affirmative defenses of res judicata, collateral estoppel, and the economic loss rule (R. 138). On August 12, 1994, the trial judge entered an order granting Preston & Farley's motion for summary judgment, without specifically stating any basis therefor (R. 385-86; A. 2). On August 12, 1994, the trial court entered a final summary judgment on Southgate's claims in favor of Preston & Farley (R. 387-88; A. 3).

Other claims were asserted against other defendants; these are not in issue.

The Second District Court of Appeal heard argument on September 26, 1995. Subsequent to that oral argument, and on November 17, 1995, the Second District Court of Appeal decided Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), with the majority holding that the economic loss rule barred claims based on fraud in the inducement, and certifying a question to this Court. Thereafter, on December 20, 1995, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order granting summary judgment in favor of Preston & Farley, within a limited setting, in light of Woodson. Linn-Well Development Cam. v. Preston & Farley. Inc., 666 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). (A. 7). In so doing, the Second District Court of Appeal again certified to this Court the substance of the question certified in Woodson:

IS A BWER OF COMMERCIAL PROPERTY PREVENTED BY THE "ECONOMIC LOSS RULE" FROM RECOVERING DAMAGES FOR FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT AGAINST THE REAL ESTATE AGENT AND ITS INDIVIDUAL AGENT REPRESENTING THE SELLERS?

Southgate then filed a motion for rehearing or in the alternative, motion for clarification, on January 4, 1996, suggesting that the Second District Court of Appeal overlooked additional causes of action asserted by Southgate that would not be barred by the economic loss rule, including negligent misrepresentation and breach of the duty of honesty, candor, good faith and fair dealing. Alternatively, Southgate suggested that new case law merited reconsideration of the Second District Court of Appeal's holding based on the economic loss rule. The Second District Court

of Appeal denied without comment Southgate's motion for rehearing on January 22, 1996. (A. 8). Southgate subsequently filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

11. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case comes before this Court upon the affirmance by the Second District Court of Appeal of the granting of a summary judgment in favor of Preston & Farley, within a limited setting, based on the economic loss rule. (A. 7). The Second District Court did not pass upon any issue of fact in dispute. (A. 7). Because summary judgment was granted against Southgate, the applicable standard of review requires that all issues of material fact be resolved in favor of Southgate, the non-moving party. See generally, Holl v. Talcott, 191 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1966). Southgate sets forth this Statement of Facts in conformance with that standard of review.

This lawsuit related to Southgate's purchase of approximately forty-two acres of real property located in Tampa, Hillsborough County, Florida ("Tampa Property") (R. 7, 9). At least twenty acres was advertised by Preston & Farley, a licensed real estate broker (R. 13), as "desirable undeveloped land available for future development;" a large building was also on the property (R. 5, 68). Southgate agreed to and did purchase the property in reliance on various representations made by Preston & Farley (R. 8). Subsequent to the purchase, Southgate learned of considerable difficulties impeding the development relating to the presence of wetlands on the unimproved portion of the property, rendering that portion undevelopable (R. 9).

Preston & Farley acted as the exclusive selling agent of the Tampa Property for the prior owner of the property, Crown, pursuant

to an exclusive listing agreement (R. 2). Prior to the sale of the property and in contemplation of the sale, Crown engaged Florida Land Design & Engineering, Inc. ("FLD&E"), a Tampa Engineering Firm, to conduct a preliminary site investigation (R. 3).

On August 28, 1986, after a physical inspection of the Tampa Property, FLD&E concluded that a majority of the site contained enough wetland vegetation to be considered jurisdictional by the regulatory agencies (R. 3). On September 9, 1986, FLD&E concluded that potentially anywhere from two-thirds to the entire undeveloped portion of the Tampa Property could be claimed by the environmental regulatory agencies (R. 3). On October 27, 1986, FLD&E rendered its report to Crown (R. 16-18). That report noted an erratic flow pattern and a poorly defined channel, both of which precluded a determination regarding the required preservation area for the undeveloped property based on the presence of wetlands (R. 16-18). The report also noted that at least two governmental entities would have to approve any development plans because of the presence of wetlands and related drainage issues (R. 16-18). The report noted that the jurisdictional wetland boundaries for developmental purposes could not be reasonably estimated and that between 2/3 and 100% of the undeveloped property may be claimed by regulatory bodies (R. 16-18).

Crown then acted on its **own** and, without obtaining regulatory approval, cleared the vegetation and requested that FLD&E conduct a **second** site investigation (R. 20-24). On or about December 2, 1986, FLD&E rendered a second report to Crown (R. 20-24). While

the report estimated that the jurisdictional wetlands comprised probably four to five acres of the site, it further noted that final delineation of the jurisdictional boundaries of the wetlands would need to be determined through field inspections by the Florida Department of Environmental Regulation, The Hillsborough County Environmental Protection Commission, The Southwest Florida Water Management District and/or the Army Corps of Engineers (R. 20-24). The report further made clear that the property could not be subdivided because the wetlands would exceed twenty percent of the land (R. 20-24).

Both the October 26, and December 2, 1994, FLD&E reports were provided to and reviewed by Preston & Farley (R. 3-4). On or about November 20, 1986, Preston & Farley representatives, FLD&E representatives and others held a meeting in Tampa in which it was decided not to "red flag" the Tampa Property from an environmental standpoint until the end use of the vacant lot was known (R. 4). In or around November of 1986, Preston & Farley delivered the final draft of the marketing brochure for the Tampa Property to Crown for its approval (R. 4). The brochure represented that "[t]he facility is situated on 42 acres of which approximately 20 acres remain in its natural state for possible future development."

On or about March 6, 1987, Crown requested a law firm to review and provide an opinion on the October and December **FLD&E** reports (R. 5). By letter dated March 24, 1987, legal counsel responded by finding that the reports appeared to be thorough in

their analysis of wetlands and drainage issues (R. 5). Preston & Farley received a copy of this letter (R. 5).

In April of 1987, Preston & Farley representatives showed the Tampa Property to Southgate (R. 5). Southgate advised Preston & Farley that they were interested in purchasing the building, but not the approximately 20 acres of vacant land adjoining the building (R. 5). Preston & Farley told Southgate that the building was not for sale separately, but represented that the vacant land was worth \$75,000 an acre, that an offer in excess of \$1 million had been received for it, and that Southgate could purchase the property, subdivide the vacant land and sell it without difficulty (R. 5-6). Despite Preston & Farley's knowledge of and access to the October and December of 1986 FLD&E reports, Preston & Farley did not disclose the reports to Southgate (R. 8).

Southgate purchased the property on March 1, 1988 (R. 7, 68); they did so in reliance on Preston & Farley's representations that the property would be subdivided and that the development potential of the property was not impaired by the presence of the represented "four to five acres" of wetlands (R. 7-8). In August of 1988, Southgate retained the services of FLD&E to provide a site investigation in connection with Southgate's plan to subdivide and develop the unimproved portion of the Tampa Property. On August 26, 1988, FLD&E provided a report to Southgate which referenced and enclosed a copy of the October 1986 report prepared for Crown. As a result of Southgate's subsequent investigations, it has been

determined that the unimproved parcel is almost 100% jurisdictional wetlands and essentially without value (R. 8).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), and Linn-Well Development Corp. v. Preston & Farlev, Inc., 666 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), wrongly hold that where a party sustains solely economic losses, the party can have no remedy in tort because of the economic loss rule. The economic loss rule was designed to prevent contracting parties from choosing more favorable tort remedies over existing contract remedies. The economic loss rule however, does not and should not apply to tort claims that are separate and independent of any breach of contract. These independent tort claims include the claims asserted by Southgate against Preston & Farley: breach of statutorily imposed duties and fraud in the inducement of a contract. There are two reasons why the economic loss rule is inapplicable to such claims.

First, the economic loss rule should not apply to independent intentional tort claims, which existed at common-law. These claims, such as tortious interference with contract and fraudulent inducement of a contract, are constitutionally protected property rights; these claims do not represent efforts to circumvent or avoid bargained-for contractual limitations with new theories of duty in tort. To the contrary, they are long-established remedies for intentional wrongs, for which no contractual remedy exists. Judicial abolition of these claims is inconsistent with the intent and purpose of the economic loss rule and our system of justice.

Second, Preston & Farley, a licensed real estate broker, owed to Southgate a statutory and common law independent duty of honesty, candor, good faith and fair dealing. Contracts purporting to remove a licensed broker's statutory liability for misrepresentation or fraud are contrary to public policy and void; the economic loss rule does not abrogate claims for breach of statutory duties.

ARGUMENT

A. TEE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE IS INAPPLICABLE TO INTENTIONAL TORT CLAIMS SUCH AS FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT OF A CONTRACT.

The Woodson and Linn-Well decisions improperly apply the economic loss rule to eliminate long-established intentional tort claims. The economic loss rule was designed to prevent contracting parties from choosing more favorable tort remedies over their contract remedies. Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n., Inc. v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 620 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1993) (claims by homeowner against the builder's suppliers barred by economic loss rule). Although initially instituted in cases between contracting parties, the economic loss rule has been applied to negligence claims for solely economic losses against non-contracting parties, where those parties had assumed no special duty to the claimant. See, e.q., id.

However, the majority opinion in, Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), and the Linn-Well decision under review extend the economic loss rule to intentional torts, and in so doing, eliminate necessary causes of action against wrongdoers for such long-established business torts as fraud in the inducement, misrepresentation, and tortious interference with contractual and business relationships. As noted in Judge Altenberndt's dissent in Woodson, "[I]f the majority's reasoning is correct, both fraud and

negligent misrepresentation have been essentially abolished in **Florida."** Woodson, 663 So. 2d at 1331.

The <u>Woodson</u> majority relied on <u>Casa Clara</u> in holding that the economic loss rule applies to claims for fraud in the inducement. The <u>Woodson</u> majority stated, "if the damages sought are economic losses only, the party seeking recovery for these damages must proceed on contract theories of liability." <u>Woodson</u> then specifically holds that the economic loss rule bars recovery of economic damages based on any tort theory. <u>Id</u>. at 1329.

<u>Woodson's</u> reliance on <u>Casa Clara</u> is misplaced. As noted in Judge Altenbernd's dissent, the <u>Woodson</u> majority misconstrues <u>Casa Clara's</u> references to tort remedies as <u>encompassing</u> intentional torts as well as negligence. <u>&etso</u>, <u>Sandarac Ass'n., Inc. v. W.R. Frizzell Architects, Inc., 609 So. 2d 1349, 1352, n. 3 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), rev. denied, 626 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1993) ("[t]he interests protected by negligence are not identical to those protected by other torts.")</u>

These intentional torts are common-law causes of action; as such they are constitutionally protected property rights. See, e.g., Kluser v. White, 281 So. 2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973); and Fl. Const. art. I, § 21. ("The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.") In some cases, such as the instant case, these causes of action are specifically based on statutory duties established by the Florida Legislature for the protection of the public. See Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 96-20 (March 7, 1996).

Woodson majority effectively, but improperly, construed <u>Casa Clara</u> to overrule this Court's decision in, <u>Johnson v. Davis</u>, 480 So. 2d 625, 629 (Fla. 1985) (homebuyer may sue seller for fraudulent misrepresentation). The duty of disclosure enunciated in <u>Johnson</u> applies to real estate brokers. <u>See e.q.</u>, <u>Torbron v. Campen</u>, 579 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), <u>rev. denied</u>, 589 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1991).

The Woodson dissenting opinions accord with other Florida appellate court rulings. In, TGI Development, Inc. v. CV Reit, Inc., 665 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that fraud in the inducement, "is the kind of independent tort that is not barred by the economic loss rule." In so holding, it certified conflict with Woodson, supra, and noted agreement with the dissenting opinions of Judges Altenbernd and Lazzara. &&&& o, Jarmco, Inc. v. Polvsard, Inc., 21 Fla. L. Weekly D478, 1996 WL 71251 (Fla. 4th DCA, February 21, 1996) ("[t] he economic loss rule (ELR) does not bar a common law fraud in the inducement claim seeking to recover only economic losses."); and, HTP, Ltd., v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., 661 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), rev. granted, 1996 Fla. LEXIS 336 (Fla. Feb. 19, 1996).

Allowing a claim for fraud in the inducement as an alternative or in addition to contractual remedies does not run afoul of the economic loss rule's purpose of preventing tort remedies from engulfing contractual remedies thereby undermining "the reliability

of commercial transactions." Williams Electric Co., Inc. v. Honevwell, Inc., 772 F.Supp. 1225, 1237 (N.D. Pla. 1991). Rather, claims for fraud in the inducement involve conduct independent of that which may have resulted in contractual breach, which claims the economic loss rule was not intended to bar. Id. at 1237, 1238; see also, Wallis v. South Florida Savings Bank, 574 So. 2d 1108, 1110 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (recognizing fraud in the inducement claims independent of contract claims, without discussion of economic loss rule); Warren v. Monahan Beaches Jewelry Center, Inc., 548 so. 2d 870, a73 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (seller's post-sale concealment that diamond ring was fake constituted subsequent tort of fraud independent of contractual breach); Pulte Home Corp. v. Osmose Wood Preserving, Inc., 60 F.3d 734 (11th Cir. 1995).

In the instant case, Preston & Farley breached a legislatively-created, judicially-recognized, affirmative obligation of licensed brokers to disclose known material facts impacting upon the purchase and sale of property. See, Zichlin v. Dill, 25 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1946); Torbron v. Campen, 579 So. 2d 165 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 589 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1991); Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 96-20 (March 7, 1996). Considering the rationale for applying the economic loss rule -- barring a tort remedy to one who failed to bargain for adequate contract remedies -- the rule cannot justifiably extend where pre-contractual fraud induced the deal in the first place.

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