ORIGINAL





SID L WHITE

APR 10 1996

LINN-WELL DEVELOPMENT CORP., et al

Petitioners,

Case No: 87,385

v.

PRESTON & FARLEY, INC.

Respondent.

District Court of Appeal 2nd District - No. 94-03170

94-03168

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

> ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PRESTON & FARLEY, INC.

> > Terry A. Smiljanich Florida Bar No: 145359 BLASINGAME, FORIZS & SMILJANICH, P.A. 300 First Avenue South Suite 500 P.O. Box 1259 St. Petersburg, FL 33731 (813) 823-3837 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In <u>Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n v. Charley Toppino and Sons</u>, 620 So. 2d I244 (Fla. 1993), this Court held that application of the economic loss rule depends upon the nature of the harm sought to be addressed. Where plaintiffs seek to redress personal harm, tort law provides the remedy. Where, however, plaintiffs seek damages based upon their disappointed economic expectations arising out of contractual relationships, they must rely on contract law.

A narrow exception to the economic loss rule has been allowed with regard to tort suits against professionals by parties other than the professional's clients. This exception applies only to plaintiffs who are part of a limited group of persons "whose reliance upon documents or information furnished by the professional" constitute the "end and aim" of the underlying transaction. City of Tampa v. Thornton-Tomasetti, P.C., 646 So. 2d 279 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). This Court has expressed its determination to halt the expansion of this tort liability of professionals to non-clients. Casa Clara at 1248, n.9.

Petitioner Southgate fails to come within this narrow exception to the economic loss rule. It negotiated a detailed contract to purchase commercial property, which contract expressly disavowed any representations regarding the character of the real property. Although its economic expectations apparently failed to be met, it cannot be allowed to turn those disappointments into a

tort action against the seller's broker Preston & Farley, alleging non-disclosure of material fact regarding the commercial transaction. No case has gone so far in extending professional liability to non-clients, and the economic loss rule properly prohibits such an attempt to circumvent freely negotiated contracts,

Intentionality provides a poor distinguishing factor in application of the economic loss rule in the instant matter. The rule relies upon the nature of the damages sought not the intention of the parties. Such a distinction would arguably prohibit professional malpractice suits unless intent were alleged. Petitioners herein seek to avoid the consequences of their contract by alleging the intentional tort of fraud in the inducement through material non-disclosures. "Intentional" breaches of contract make no more sense than "negligent" breaches.

Petitioner's argument regarding statutory regulation of brokers goes beyond either the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal herein or the certified question before this Court. The legislative regulation of the brokerage professional does not, however, lend independent support for a suit by a purchaser of commercial property against the seller's broker, where the "as is" transaction results in economic disappointment. The cases addressing liability of professional brokers to non-clients have involved limited facts of no application to the instant matter.

Finally, petitioner's argument that no other support exists for the summary judgment granted to respondent also goes beyond

either the appellate decision herein or the certified question. The record supports, however, summary judgment for Preston & Farley on several separate grounds, including res iudicata and collateral estoppel.

ARGUMENT

- A. THE ECONOMIC LOSS RULE PREVENTS A BUYER OF COMMERCIAL PROPERTY FROM RECOVERING PURELY ECONOMIC LOSS IN TORT, INTENTIONAL OR NOT, AGAINST THE REAL ESTATE BROKER REPRESENTING THE SELLER OF SUCH NON-RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY
 - 1. Tort Liability of Professionals Should not be Expanded to Include Non-privity Plaintiffs in Commercial Real Estate Transactions.

The economic loss rule enjoys a varied reputation. Is it the life preserver which prevents contract law from "drowning in a sea of tort," Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n v. Charley Toppino and Sons, 620 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1993), or is it "The Monster that Ate Commercial Torts?" There are no doubt conflicting interpretations of this Court's pronouncements on the outlines of the economic loss rule. This could be expected, since the rule straddles the great dividing line of civil law separating contracts and torts. This brief will concentrate, however, on the narrow issue presented by the certified question, which can be answered without addressing all aspects of the economic loss rule.

The controversy surrounding the economic loss rule has arisen partly as a result of several factual dichotomies that exist in the various cases that have addressed the issue. These dichotomies are:

Paul Schwiep <u>The Economic Loss Rule Outbreak</u>, FLA. BAR JOURNAL, Nov. 1995, pp. 34-43.

- the nature of the tort (intentional vs. negligence);
- 2. the nature of the transaction (consumer vs. commercial);
- 3. the relationship of the parties (privity vs. nonprivity);
- 4. the damages sought (property damage vs. economic loss); and
- 5. the type of liability (products liability, professional liability, business torts).

The cases that have addressed the economic loss rule have contained a permutation of these dichotomies, and as a result attempts to state a general rule have foundered on differing facts.

In Florida Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 510 So. 2d 899 (Fla. 1987), this Court drew a distinct line between the two fundamental causes of action: a) contract actions which seek to enforce the economic expectancies of parties; and b) tort actions which seek to impose duties not founded on contract. Relying upon Seelv v. White Motor Co., 63 Cal.2d 9, 45 Cal.Rptr. 17, 403 P.2d 145 (1965), and East River Steamship Corp. v. Transamerica Delaval, Inc., 476 U.S. 858, 106 S.Ct. 2295, 90 L.Ed.2d 865 (1986), this Court held that contract principles were more appropriate to resolve purely economic loss as opposed to personal injury and property loss.

Although <u>Florida Power & Light</u> involved two parties in privity with each other, this Court later applied the economic loss rule in

a non-privity context. In <u>Casa Clara Condominium Ass'n v. Charlev</u>

<u>Toppino and Sons, Inc.</u>, 620 So.2d 1244 (Fla. 1993), this Court stated:

"The purpose of a duty in tort is to protect society's interest in being free from harm. . , . Contractual duties, on the other hand, come from society's interest in the performance of promises." Id. at 1246-1247

Thus in analyzing the application of the rule the Court placed primary emphasis on the nature of the harm sought to be addressed - disappointed economic expectations versus personal harm - rather than privity of contract.

The instant matter involves application of the economic loss rule to actions in tort against professionals. Where privity exists between the professional and the person harmed, i.e., the client, there is little difficulty in determining that the professional contractual relationship created gives rise to causes of action for economic harm caused by breach of the professional's duty to the client. <u>E.q.</u>, <u>Weiner v. Moreno</u>, 271 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973).

The greater problem is created when attempts are made to expand the class of persons who may sue the professional for economic harm. In a few limited instances, this Court has allowed non-privity plaintiffs to bring tort actions against certain professionals. See First Florida Bank v. Max Mitchell & Co., 558 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1990) (accountants); Angel, Cohn & Rosovin v. Oberon Investment, 512 So.2d 192 (Fla. 1987) (attorneys); First American Title Ins. Co., Inc. v. First Title Service Co., 457 So.2d 467

(Fla. 1984) (abstractors); A. R. Mover, Inc. v. Graham, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973) (architects). In City of Tampa v. Thornton-Tomasetti, P.C., 646 So.2d 279 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), the Second District Court of Appeal examined these exceptions to privity and noted that these few cases involved not every foreseeable injured party, as traditional tort law would suggest, but rather only:

"distinct third parties whose reliance upon documents or information furnished by the professional constituted the 'end and aim of the [underlying] transaction.' <u>Id.</u> at 282.

Without expressly stating so, this analysis tracks closely the exception to the economic loss rule set forth in Section 552, Restatement (Second) of Torts (1976). This section allows actions in tort against professionals by non-privity plaintiffs for information negligently supplied to them, as long as these plaintiffs are part of a "limited group of persons for whose benefit and guidance" the professional knowingly provided such information. In Palau Int'l Traders, Inc. v. Narcam Aircraft, Inc., 653 So.2d 412 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), that court noted that this expansion of professional liability to non-privity plaintiffs was "a narrow exception to the economic loss rule." Id. at 417.

The case of <u>Woodson v. Martin</u>, 663 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), and the instant matter address the application of these varied principles to suits by non-privity plaintiffs against real estate brokers for alleged intentional torts. In <u>Woodson</u>, the <u>en banc</u> majority reviewed the <u>Casa Clara</u> decision and the more recent decision of this Court in <u>Airport Rent-A-Car</u>, Inc. v. Prevost Car,

Inc., 660 So.2d 628 (Fla. 1995). In describing the <u>Airport Rent-A-</u>
Car case, the <u>Woodson</u> court stated:

The court strongly reaffirmed its holding in Casa Clara, emphasizing that in Casa Clara the court recognized that the law of contracts protects one's economic losses, whereas the law of torts protects society's interest in being free from harm, The court cited language from a previous case that 'without some conduct resulting in personal injury or property damage, there can be no independent tort flowing from a contractual breach which would justify a tort claim solely for economic losses.' Id. at 1329.

In dissent, Judge Altenbernd argued that the economic loss rule should not apply to intentional torts. <u>Id.</u> at 1330. Lazzara noted in his separate dissent that Casa Clara had not expressly overruled another case allowing assertion of intentional torts against sellers of residential property, Johnson v. Davis, 480 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1985). <u>Id.</u> at 1332-1333. Judge Lazzara emphasized the protection to residential purchasers provided by the Johnson decision, and pointed out that this Court had made the same distinction in Casa Clara (in footnote 6 at p.1247). Id. at 1333. Judge Lazzara further noted that the duties of disclosure regarding the seller's residential property have been extended to Tobron v. <u>Campen</u>, 579 So.2d 165, 169 (Fla. professional broker. 5th **DCA** 1991), rev. den., 589 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1991).

Judge Lazzara's dissent points the way to a reconciliation of the cases addressing the application of the economic loss rule to non-privity professionals, the situation presented in the instant action. The starting point of any such analysis must be the general proposition that persons not in privity with a professional cannot rely upon the professional's relationship with another to justify an action for economic loss - i.e., for "disappointed economic expectations." Casa Clara at 1246.

To this general rule certain narrow exceptions have been allowed. As noted above, this Court has allowed a limited class of non-privity plaintiffs to sue professionals where reliance on documents or information provided by the professional is the "end and aim" of the subject transaction. City of Tamwa, suwra at 282. The Tobron case, suwra, suggests that Florida courts should expand the protected class of non-privity plaintiffs to purchasers of residential property. This Court has expressed, however, a determination to limit the expansion of professional liability to non-privity plaintiffs. Although A. R. Mover, suwra, had allowed expansion of professional liability to non-privity architects who "supervise" contractors, in Casa Clara this Court limited that prior decision "strictly to its facts." Casa Clara at 1248, n.9.

Likewise, this Court should not permit free expansion of professional non-privity tort liability to include real estate brokers, particularly in the context of commercial transactions. The Casa Clara decision described homeowners as "an appealing, sympathetic class," and noted the protections extended to them by Johnson v. Davis. Casa Clara at 1247. The certified question herein asks for guidance with regard to commercial transactions. Given the Court's reluctance to allow continued expansion in this area of the law, a clear line can and should be drawn between residential and commercial transactions.

In the instant case, the transaction in question involved a large tract of commercial real property. The parties to the transaction negotiated an extensive and detailed contract for its purchase and sale. That contract, freely negotiated by the two corporate entities, expressly disavowed any representations by the sellers regarding the quality of the property. (R. 76) Southgate's suit herein clearly seeks damages for its "disappointed economic expectations" regarding the property and the price paid for it, rather than for any personal injury or property damage. (R. 1-14)

The doctrine of <u>caveat emptor</u> is still applicable to commercial real estate transactions. "The doctrine of caveat emptor protects a seller of commercial real property from any liability to the purchaser of that property for any condition of that property that preexists the sale." <u>Mostoufi v. Presto Food Stores, Inc.</u>, 618 So.2d 1372, 1377 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), <u>rev. den.</u>, 626 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1993). In that case, the Second District noted that this Court had modified that doctrine only as to sales of residential real property in <u>Johnson v. Davis</u>, <u>supra. Id.</u>

Of course, <u>caveat emptor</u> does not protect against active misrepresentations. It is applicable, however, to nondisclosure of material facts, unaccompanied by words or acts sufficient to constitute active fraud. <u>Haskell Co. v. Lane Co., Ltd.</u>, 612 So. 2d 669 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); <u>Ramel v. Chasebrook Construction Co.</u>, 135 so. 2d 876, 882 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). In the instant matter, other than expressing opinions about value prior to the contract

negotiations, Preston & Farley was only alleged to have failed to disclose certain material facts regarding the physical condition, (R. 6-7) and to have been the seller's broker in a sale that expressly disavowed any representations concerning that physical condition,

Thus, although the District Court decision in Tobron expanded upon <u>Johnson v. Davis</u> by allowing this exception to the economic loss rule to include non-privity professionals in a residential sale, this Court should not extend the exception even further by including non-privity professionals in a commercial context. Court has relied on the economic loss rule to provide a necessary limitation on the increasing scope of tort law. Parties who enter into contracts, in which they have been free to negotiate whatever protections they deem important, should not be allowed to circumvent that process after the fact by turning disappointed economic expectations into a tort action, especially against professionals who owe their primary fiduciary obligation to their clients. Were such an expansion of professional duties allowed, no real estate broker could ever represent a seller of commercial property desiring to sell "as is," since the broker's fiduciary duty to his client would clash inexorably with any duty owed to the stranger to their relationship. As the Palau court stated:

"the buyer, <u>particularly in a large commercial</u> <u>transaction</u> as in this case, could have protected his interests by negotiation and contractual bargaining or insurance with the seller. Palau at 416 (emphasis added).

2. Application of the Economic Loss Rule Should not Depend upon a Distinction Between Intentional Torts and Negligence.

This analysis should not turn on **a** distinction between intentional and unintentional torts, **as** suggested by the minority opinions in <u>Woodson</u> and by petitioners herein. That distinction does not do justice to the underlying rationale of the economic loss rule, which is the nature of the damages sought. When the crux of the lawsuit is **a** commercial transaction whose outcome does not satisfy the plaintiff's expectations, parties should not be allowed to circumvent contract law by couching their allegations in what amounts to "tortious" breaches of the contract, be they intentional or unintentional,

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